1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA			
2				
3		Electronically Filed		
4	COLLINS KWAYISI, et al.,	Nov 05 2015 10:52 a.m.		
5	Appellants,	Tracie K. Lindemah Clerk of Supreme Court		
6	VS.	Case No. 68754		
7	WENDY'S OF LAS VEGAS, INC., an Ohio Corporation; and CEDAR ENTERPRISES, INC., an Ohio	United States District Court		
8	ENTERPRISES, INC., an Ohio Corporation,	Case No.: 2:14-cv-00729-GMN-VCF		
9	Respondents.			
10				
11				
12	APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF			
13				
14				
15				
16 17				
17 18				
18 19				
19 20	WOLF, RIFKIN, SHAPIRO, S	CHULMAN & RABKIN, LLP		
20 21	BRADLEY SCHRAGER	CHULMAN & RABKIN, LLP ESQ., NV Bar No. 1021 wrslawyers.com ESQ., NV Bar No. 10217

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED

The United States District Court for the District of Nevada has certified, and this Court has accepted, the following question for resolution:

Whether an employee must actually enroll in health benefits offered by an employer before the employer may pay that employee at the lower-tier wage under the Minimum Wage Amendment, Nev. Const. art. XV, sec. 16.

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to N.R.A.P. 5. *See* N.R.A.P. 5. Under Rule 5, this Court has the power to answer questions of law that "may be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court and ... it appears to the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the Supreme Court of this state." N.R.A.P. 5(a); *see also* Appellants' Appendix ("App. Appx.") 0066-0068.

1 2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

25

III. **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

At the 2006 General Election, the people of Nevada approved the constitutional amendment denominated as Question 6 by a two-to-one margin regarding the minimum wage to be paid to all Nevada employees.¹ The Minimum Wage Amendment became effective in November 28, 2006, and was codified as new article XV, section 16 of the Nevada Constitution. See Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16.

The Minimum Wage Amendment guaranteed to each Nevada employee, with very narrow exceptions, a particular hourly wage: "Each employer shall pay a wage to each employee of not less than the hourly rates set forth in this section. The rate shall be five dollars and fifteen cents (\$5.15) per hour worked, if the employer provides health benefits as described herein, or six dollars and fifteen cents (\$6.15) per hour if the employer does not provide such benefits."² Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16(A).

As alleged, Respondents paid Appellant Collins Kwayisi less than the Amendment's upper-tier wage rate. App. Appx. 0005-0007, 0024-0030. Appellant and his co-plaintiffs filed their class action complaint in this matter on May 9, 2014, and filed an amended complaint on May 20, 2014. App. Appx. 0001-0018, 0019-0040. Respondents, after resolution of a motion to dismiss, answered the amended complaint on February 23, 2015. App. Appx. 0041-0057. On April 30, 2015, Appellant Collins Kwayisi filed a motion for partial summary

28

¹ This represented the second passage of Question 6 by the people. It had been approved by a similarly wide margin at the 2004 General Election.

²⁴ The Minimum Wage Amendment contained an indexing mechanism, and since July 1, 2010, the Nevada minimum wage levels have been \$7.25 per hour if the employer provides qualifying health benefits, and \$8.25 per hour if the employer does not provide such benefits. *See* Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16(A); *see also* Office of the Nevada Labor Commissioner, *Annual Minimum Wage Bulletin*, http://www.laborcommissioner.com/ (2010-2015). The upper-tier and lower-tier 26 minimum wage rates have remained unchanged since July 1, 2010. Id.

judgment and argued that, under the Amendment, Respondents were ineligible to 1 2 pay him below \$8.25 because he was never actually provided with qualifying 3 health insurance. App. Appx. 0065-0067. On August 21, 2015, the United States District Court for the District of Nevada certified the present question of law sua 4 5 sponte, and denied Appellant's motion without prejudice pending the outcome of this proceeding. App. Appx. 0058-0069. This Court accepted the certified question 6 7 and directed briefing by the parties. App. Appx. 0070-0071.

8

11

12

15

17

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

IV. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

9 Appellants discern no reason to diverge from the usual rule that factual 10 inquiries in N.R.A.P. 5 matters are limited to the order certifying the question and to the pleadings filed by the parties. In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 85, 267 P.3d 786, 794-95 (2011) ("The answering court's role is 13 limited to answering the questions of law posed to it, and the certifying court retains the duty to determine the facts and to apply the law provided by the 14 answering court to those facts."). Here, the portion of the District Court's order 16 that dealt specifically with the issue of certifying the question confines itself to recitation of the respective positions of the parties. App. Appx. 0065-0068.

18 V. **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The question presented is a matter of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. City of Reno v. Reno Gazette-Journal, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 63 P.3d 1147, 1148 (2003).

VI. ARGUMENT

The textual command of the Minimum Wage Amendment is clear: "The rate shall be five dollars and fifteen cents (\$5.15) per hour worked, if the employer *provides* health benefits as described herein, or six dollars and fifteen cents (\$6.15) per hour if the employer does not *provide* such benefits." Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16(A) (emphasis supplied). The succeeding sentence—"Offering health benefits within the meaning of this section shall consist of making health insurance

available to the employee for the employee and the employee's dependents at a total cost to the employee for premiums of not more than 10 percent of the employee's gross taxable income from the employer"—does not define the term "provide." *Id.* Instead, it "describes herein" the type and cost of the benefits that *may* permit the employer to pay below the upper-tier hourly wage. Those benefits must be "health insurance," meaning they must meet legal requirements for health insurance under pertinent state and federal laws, they must be available to the employee and all dependents, and they must not cost the employee more than ten percent of his or her income from the employer.

Here is how the Amendment was supposed to function: Employers go ahead and choose whether it was better to pay every employee at least \$8.25 per hour, or to pay employees down to \$7.25 per hour but provide those employees and their dependents with health insurance, at a capped premium cost to the employee of ten percent of what the employer paid the worker in wages. That cap meant that employers had to weigh the possibility that health insurance premiums might run above the ten percent of wages figure, leaving them responsible for overages. Employees either receive the insurance and up to a dollar less in pay, or the full \$8.25 hourly wage.

Respondents believe they have found a loophole that benefits them mightily, however, by asserting that all an employer must do in order to reduce employees' wages all the way down to \$7.25 per hour from \$8.25 is to "make qualifying health benefits available to employees." App. Appx. 0066. In other words, in Respondents' version, the employer receives the benefit of the Amendment—a dollar off for every hour worked—whether or not the employee receives anything in exchange for the loss of that hourly dollar.

But the Minimum Wage Amendment requires that employees actually receive qualified health insurance in order for the employer to pay, currently, down

to \$7.25 per hour to those employees. Otherwise, the purposes and benefits of the 2 Amendment are thwarted, and employees (the obvious beneficiaries of the 3 Amendment) who reject insurance plans offered by their employer would receive 4 neither the low-cost health insurance envisioned by the Minimum Wage Amendment, nor the raise in wages its passaged explicitly promised them. \$7.25 per hour is already the federal minimum wage rate that every employer in Nevada 6 must pay employees anyway.

The distinction the parties here draw between "provide" and "offering" is no small matter, either economically or in terms of equity. The fundamental operation of the Minimum Wage Amendment, fairly construed, demands that employees not be left with none of the benefits of its enactment, whether they be the higher wage rate or the promised low-cost health insurance for themselves and their families.

The Plain Text Of The Minimum Wage Amendment Requires The Provision Of Health Insurance For The Privilege of Paying Α. Less Than The Upper-Tier Minimum Wage

Section A of the Minimum Wage Amendment unambiguously authorizes an employer to pay the lower-tier minimum wage (originally \$5.15 per hour, now \$7.25) only to those employees to whom it "provides health insurance benefits." Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16(A). If, on the other hand, an employer "does not provide such benefits" to an employee, it must pay that employee the upper-tier wage (originally \$6.15 per hour, now \$8.25). Id. The two-tiered wage provision of the Amendment is mandatory and remedial, and requires employers either to provide qualifying health plans or increased wages to their employees. The Amendment is a remedial act, and will be liberally construed to ensure the intended benefit for the intended beneficiaries. See, e.g., Washoe Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Reliance Ins. Co., 112 Nev. 494, 496, 915 P.2d 288, 289 (1996); see also Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, 336 P.3d 951, 954 (2014), reh'g denied (Jan. 22, 2015).

27

1

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

The meaning and operation of the Amendment's two-tiered wage scheme is evident: The employer's privilege of paying the lower-tier hourly wage is conditioned upon the actual provision of qualifying health insurance benefits to the employee. Although the Amendment does not expressly define "provide," the meaning is facially evident from the text of the Amendment, and easily divined from the purpose of the Amendment generally, which was to raise the pay of minimum wage employees.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

11

12

17

21

22

23

The plain and ordinary meaning of "provide" 1.

9 It is well-established that, when interpreting a statute or constitutional 10 provision, courts first look to the plain language of the provision, giving every word, phrase, and sentence its usual, natural, and ordinary import and meaning, unless doing so violates the provision's spirit. See Royal Foods Co. v. RJR 13 Holdings, Inc., 252 F.3d 1102, 1106 (9th Cir. 2001); McKay v. Bd. of Sup'rs of 14 Carson City, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986). When facially clear, 15 courts will not generally go beyond the plain language of the provision. McKay, 16 102 Nev. at 648, 730 P.2d at 441. Stated another way, when a provision is susceptible to only one honest construction, that alone is the construction which 18 properly can be given. See Robinson v. Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 337, 341, 117 S. Ct. 19 843, 846 (1997); Washoe Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Reliance Ins. Co., supra, 112 Nev. at 496, 915 P.2d at 289 (citing Building & Constr. Trades v. Public Works, 108 Nev. 20 605, 610, 836 P.2d 633, 636 (1992)). Plain language controls unless it would lead to absurd results. See United States v. Romero-Bustamente, 337 F.3d 1104, 1109 (9th Cir. 2003); Harris Associates v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., 119 Nev. 638, 642, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003). 24

25 Here, the plain language and intended operation of the Amendment is 26ascertainable from the face of the Amendment. An employer must do more than merely offer a health insurance to an employee in order to qualify for paying the

employee the lower-tier wage. Any other construction would be absurd, and would turn the incentives embodied by the Amendment to encourage employers to provide qualifying health plans to their employees or else pay higher wages to those employees, on their heads.

By looking only at the plain and unambiguous language of the Amendment's two-tiered wage provision, it is clear that the operative word "provide" means something other than simply "offering" some sort of health plan. Interpretation necessarily begins with the assumption that the language employed by the drafters was intentional and its ordinary meaning accurately expresses the drafter's purpose. *See, e.g., Gross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 557 U.S. 167, 175, 129 S. Ct. 2343, 2350 (2009) ("Statutory construction must begin with the language employed by Congress and the assumption that the ordinary meaning of that language accurately expresses the legislative purpose."). "Provide" and the other terms of the Amendment must be respected as being chosen carefully and deliberately by the drafters, with recognition that they were approved overwhelmingly by the people of Nevada at two general elections.

The ordinary and everyday meaning of "provide" is "to supply for use," not merely to offer for potential use. See Merriam-Webster's Dictionary and Thesaurus at 838 (Merriam-Webster, Inc. 2006) (emphasis supplied). Synonyms of "provide" include "deliver," "give," "hand," "hand over," "supply," and "furnish[.]" Id. Likewise, Black's definition of "provide" is "an act of furnishing or supplying a person with a product." Black's Law Dictionary Free Online Legal Dictionary (2d ed.) http://thelawdictionary.org/provide/ (accessed Oct. 22, 2015); see also Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979) (defining "furnish" as interchangeable with "provide"—"To supply, provide, or equip, for accomplishment of a particular purpose.").

Both the Nevada Labor and Insurance Codes support the distinction here

27 28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

made between provide and offering. Under N.R.S. 608.1555, "[a]ny employer who 1 2 provides benefits for health care to his or her employees shall provide the same 3 benefits and pay providers of health care in the same manner as a policy of insurance pursuant to chapters 689A and 689B of NRS." N.R.S. 608.1555. 4 5 Chapters 608, 689A and 689B use some form of the terms *provide* and *offer* in the context of health insurance benefits hundreds of times.³ In them, "offering" almost 6 7 always is used with reference to an insurer, whose product is being *offered* into the 8 Nevada marketplace and is therefore regulated before it can be made available for 9 sale.⁴ When treating employer obligations regarding insurance plans, however, the 10 Insurance Code, for example, switches to the more active "provide." If an

³ See, e.g.:

11

12

13

14

15

N.R.S. 608.156(1): If an employer *provides* health benefits for his or her employees, the employer shall *provide* benefits for the expenses for the treatment of abuse of alcohol and drugs. N.R.S. 608.156(1) (emphasis supplied).

N.R.S. 608.157(1): If an employer *provides* health benefits for his or her employees which include coverage for the surgical procedure known as a mastectomy, the employer must also *provide* commensurate coverage for at least two prosthetic devices and for reconstructive surgery incident to the mastectomy. N.R.S. 608.157(1) (emphasis supplied).

16 N.R.S. 608.157(1) (emphasis supplied).
 N.R.S. 608.1576: The purpose of this section is to ensure that children are promptly enrolled in a program of health insurance *provided* by the responsible parent and that the health insurance is maintained. N.R.S. 608.1576 (emphasis supplied).

N.R.S. 608.1575(2): The benefits *provided* by the employer must not limit: (a)
Coverage for services *provided* by such a registered nurse to a number of occasions
Reimbursement for services *provided* by such a registered nurse to an amount less
than that reimbursed for similar services *provided* by another provider of health care. (b)
Reimbursement for services *provided* by such a registered nurse to an amount less
than that reimbursed for similar services *provided* by another provider of health

4 See, e.g.:

N.R.S. 689B.0265: An insurer may *offer* a policy of group health insurance to a guaranteed association if the policy *provides* coverage for 200 or more members, employees of members or employees of the guaranteed association or their dependents. N.R.S. 689B.0265 (emphasis supplied).

N.R.S. 689B.028: An insurer shall provide to the group policyholder to whom it
 offers a policy of group health insurance a copy of the disclosure approved for that
 policy pursuant to NRS 689B.027 before the policy is issued. An insurer shall not
 offer a policy of health insurance unless the disclosure for that policy has been
 approved by the Commissioner. N.R.S. 689B.028 (emphasis supplied).

28

employer "provides" health insurance, the Codes mandate, the insurance in 2 question must have certain qualities—meaning, essentially, if an employee is to 3 subject themselves and their families to a particular employer-provided insurances, 4 it must have certain types and amounts of coverage. At that point, the Legislature 5 is assuming "provide" means that real employees will be subject to employerprovided insurance—they have, in other words, accepted the benefits—and that 6 therefore those policies must carry, for example, coverage for drug and alcohol 8 abuse treatment, treatment of autism spectrum disorders, or gynecological or 9 obstetrical services. See N.R.S. 608.156; N.R.S. 689B.0335; N.R.S. 689B.031. In 10 these statutory sections, unmistakably, "provide" always has the connotation of receipt of the benefit in question.⁵

Nevada courts also have used "provide" interchangeably with the word "furnish" to connote a transfer of possession from one to another, as opposed to making something merely available. In State v. Powe, No. 55909, 2010 WL 3462763 (Nev. July 19, 2010), the district court, interpreting a criminal statute's use of "furnish," found as a matter of law that "furnishing" calls for actual delivery by one person to another. Reviewing that interpretation *de novo*, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed. Id. at *1. The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure use "provide" in similar fashion: N.R.C.P. 16.1(a)(1) mandates the initial disclosures that "a party must, without awaiting a discovery request, *provide* to other parties." N.R.C.P. 16.1(a)(1) (emphasis supplied). Under N.R.C.P. 32(c), "a party offering

5 *See*, *e*.*g*.:

9

1

7

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

N.R.S. 689B.0285(4): Each insurer that issues a policy of group health insurance in this State that *provides, delivers, arranges for, pays for or reimburses* any cost of health care services through managed care shall *provide* a system for resolving any complaints of an insured concerning the health care services that complies with the provisions of NRS 695G.200 to 695G.310, inclusive. N.R.S. 23 24 25 689B.0285(4) (emphasis supplied).

²⁶ N.R.S. 689B.0306, concerning provision of coverage for treatment received as part of clinical trial or study, employs "provide" seventeen times, and in each instance it means "receive." *See* N.R.S. 689B.0306.

²⁷ 28

deposition testimony pursuant to this rule may offer it in stenographic or 2 nonstenographic form, but, if in nonstenographic form, the party shall also *provide* 3 the court with a transcript of the portions so offered." N.R.C.P. 32(c) (emphasis 4 supplied).

"To offer" is merely "to present for acceptance." Merriam-Webster's, *supra*, at 733. Synonyms for "offer" include "extend," "pose," "proffer," and "suggest," but notably not "provide", "furnish", or "supply[.]" Id. at 734. Neither does Merriam-Webster list "offer" as synonymous with "provide." Id. at 838. Thus, "offer," which carries no connotation of transference of possession, is not synonymous or interchangeable with "provide" in the wage provision of the Amendment, or in any other context. The overall definitional weight of "provide," even alone with no reference to the context or meaning it has within the Amendment, connotes an actual exchange, not simply the potential for an exchange.⁶

It is a basic rule of construction that "[w]here the document has used one term in one place, and a materially different term in another, the presumption is that the different term denotes a different idea." Lorton v. Jones, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 8, 322 P.3d 1051, 1057 (2014), reh'g denied (Mar. 5, 2014) (quoting Antonin Scalia and Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts (2012)). Here, the different idea is the difference between a full bargain (a dollar less in wages, but provision of health insurance to one's entire family), and an incomplete one (no dollar and no insurance, because one did not accept the offered

1

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

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