IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MDC RESTAURANTS, LLC, A
NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY; LAGUNA RESTAURANTS
LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY; AND INKA LLC, A
NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY,

Petitioners,

vs.

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF
CLARK AND THE HONORABLE
TIMOTHY WILLIAMS, DISTRICT
JUDGE,

Respondents,

and

PAULETTE DIAZ, AN INDIVIDUAL;
LAWANDA GAIL WILBANKS, AN
INDIVIDUAL; and CHARITY
FITZLAFF, AN INDIVIDUAL, ALL ON
BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND ALL
SIMILARLY-SITUATED
INDIVIDUALS,

Real Parties in Interest.

Case No. 68523

Electronically Filed
Dec 14 2015 03:40 p.m.
Eighth Judicial District Court Case

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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

The MWA sets forth a very clear directive for Nevada employers paying minimum wage: if they provide health insurance to their employees, they may pay the federal minimum wage. Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16. Indeed, the parties agree that this is inherent in the plain language of the MWA. **See *Diaz* Answer at 6:3-17;** (*Diaz* Appx. at 45); CA Vol. I, 001-021 and 056-119. The disagreement

therefore, rests solely on what is meant by the word “provide.” Defendant-Respondents take the position that the word provide, as used in the MWA, has its common place meaning “to make available.” <<http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/provide>>. An employer provides health insurance by subscribing to a health insurance plan that is made available to its employees. Plaintiff-Appellants, reject this common sense definition. Instead they argue, an employer does not “provide” health insurance within the meaning of the MWA, unless its employees actually choose to enroll in the health insurance plans provided by the employer.

Ultimately, Defendant-Respondents’ position prevails for four key reasons: (1) the plain language of the MWA states that “provide” means to “offer” or “mak[e]. . . available”; (2) the regulations implementing the MWA also specifically state that employers need only “offer” or “make available” health insurance; (3) the “history, purpose, and policy” of the MWA does not support adding language for enrollment or acceptance; and (4) the retroactive effect of creating any enrollment or acceptance requirement would be a violation of due process.

A. The Plain Language of the MWA States That “Provide” Means to “Offer” or “Mak[e]. . . available.”

When the words of a statute have a definite and ordinary meaning, the Court should not look beyond “the plain language of the statute, unless it is clear that this

meaning was not intended.” *Harris Associates v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 119 Nev. 638, 641-42, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003) (citing *State v. Quinn*, 117 Nev. 709, 713, 30 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2001)); see also *Glover v. Concerned Citizens for Fuji Park*, 118 Nev. 488 (2002) (stating that “[i]t is well established that when the language of a statute is unambiguous, a court should give that language its ordinary meaning”), *overruled in part by Garvin v. Dist. Ct.*, 118 Nev. 749 (2002). Here, the plain language of the MWA is clear:

The rate shall be five dollars and fifteen cents (\$5.15) per hour worked, if the employer provides health benefits as described herein, or six dollars and fifteen cents (\$6.15) per hour if the employer does not provide such benefits. Offering health benefits within the meaning of this section shall consist of making health insurance available to the employee for the employee and the employee’s dependents at a total cost to the employee for premiums of not more than 10 percent of the employee’s gross taxable income from the employer.

Nev. Const. art. XV, § 16. These two sentences in the MWA are the complete and only reference to “provid[ing] health benefits.” *Id.* The second sentence clarifies that “provides health benefits” is “offering health benefits” which “shall consist of making health insurance available to the employee.” *Id.* Thus, the MWA’s plain language uses the terms “provide[.]”, “offer[.]” and “mak[e] health insurance available” as interchangeable synonyms in these two sentences. *Id.* Conversely, the MWA has no language regarding an employee actually “enroll[ing]” or “accept[ing]” any offered health benefits. *Id.* In fact, the MWA has no language

regarding any action by the “employee” whatsoever as the offering of health benefits only refers to the “employer” making health insurance available. Accordingly, the plain language of the MWA itself evinces that the legislature further defined “provide[]” as “offer[]” or “mak[e]. . . available.”

Additionally, the plain language of the MWA indicates that these two sentences must be read together as they reference each other. No other sentences in the MWA state how health benefits are provided or offered. Instead, the first sentence above states “if the employer provides health benefits as described herein.” *Id.* (Emphasis added). Then, the following sentence states the corollary of “[o]ffering health benefits within the meaning of this section shall consist of making health insurance available.” *Id.* (Emphasis added). Thus, reading the two sentences together, the legislature clearly intended the phrase “provides health benefits” to be further “described” as “offering health benefits” which, within the meaning of Section A of the MWA, would be “making. . . available.”

Under the MWA, if an employer provides health insurance for its employees, it may pay those employees the lower-tier minimum wage. The plain and ordinary meaning of the word “provide” is “to make available.” *See infra.* Thus, if an employer makes health insurance available to its employees – in other words offers health insurance to its employees – it may pay the lower tier minimum wage. In addition to the plain language of the MWA cited above, the

common understanding of “provide” is to “offer” or “make available.”

1. The dictionary definition of “provide” is also “to make available.”

In an attempt to contort the very straight-forward directive of the MWA, Plaintiff-Appellants request that this Court adopt a nonsensical definition of the word “provide.” Specifically, they assert that the word “provide” means that there must be some form of acceptance or assertion of control or possession by the person to whom a service or item is being provided. In other words, according to Plaintiff-Appellants, a service or item has not been provided unless the person for whom the service or item is intended actually uses or takes that service or item. In an effort to further this argument, Plaintiff-Appellants point out that “provide” is synonymous to “supply” or “furnish.” However, at no point do they ever look to the actual definition of the word “provide” or even to the definitions of “supply” or “furnish.” This is likely because, “provide,” “supply,” “furnish,” and “offer” are all, in fact, synonymous with one another and none of them require any acceptance or control of possession by the party to whom the service or item is being provided, supplied, furnished, or offered. *See i.e.* <<http://www.synonym.com/synonyms/provide>>. Indeed, every single definition of the word “provide,” including the definitions used by the sources Plaintiff-Appellants cite, in no way indicate that there must be some acceptance or action taken by the person for whom an item or service is being provided. For example, Plaintiff-Appellants

direct the Court to the online Meriam-Webster Dictionary's *Thesaurus* definition for the word provide. ***Diaz Answer at 8:25-96; Hanks Opening Brief at 7:18-27; Kwayisi Opening Brief at 7:17-26.*** However, that definition explains that there is no need for actual acceptance or use:

PROVIDE

to put (something) into the possession of someone for use or consumption <this luxury hotel provides all the comforts of home to well-heeled vacationers>

<<http://www.merriam-webster.com/thesaurus/provide>>. As the example sets forth, providing is the same as making available for use. If a “well-heeled vacationer” does not use or keep the towels, it doesn’t mean the “comforts of home” weren’t provided. The towels, like the health insurance at issue here, was there for the use or taking. It does not matter whether the towels were then actually used or taken. If the towels were available for use, they were provided – plain and simple. For example, if person A invites person B over for dinner and then prepares and offers person B dinner, person A has provided person B dinner regardless of whether person B eats the food provided. What matters is that dinner was made available. Another example would be city busses. A city may provide busses for its residents; however, just because a particular resident may choose not to take the bus that does not mean that resident can claim the city does not provide busses for his use.

Next, Plaintiff-Appellants completely glaze over the actual *dictionary*

definition of the word “provide.” *Diaz Answer at 8:25-96; Hanks Opening Brief at 7:18-27; Kwayisi Opening Brief at 7:17-26.* The online Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines “provide” as follows:

Provide:

: to make (something) available : to supply (something that is wanted or needed)

: to give something wanted or needed to (someone or something) : to supply (someone or something) with something

...

: to supply or make available (something wanted or needed) <provided new uniforms for the band>; *also* : afford <curtains provide privacy>

: to make something available to <provide the children with free balloons>

<<http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/provide>> (emphasis added). Thus, according to Plaintiff-Appellants own source, which they cite to but do not actually discuss in their briefing, the very first definition of the word “provide” is “to make available.” *Id.* Nowhere in this definition is there a requirement that the person being provided an item or service must actually use or accept that item or service in order for it to be considered “provided.”

Similarly, The Random House Dictionary of the English Language, 2nd ed., Unabridged, 1556 (1987) defines “provide” as “to make available.” This is also true in the definition given by Black’s Law Dictionary: “An act of furnishing or supplying a person with a product.” <<http://thelawdictionary.org/provide/>> (Black’s Law Dictionary Online). Thus, if a person furnishes or supplies a

product, they have made it available. There is no requirement that the supplied or furnished product is accepted or used or taken into possession by the offeree.

Another source, and one which arguably offers the most “ordinary and everyday meaning” of the word “provide,” is Google. Indeed, there is no other definition of “provide” that is more “accessible, ordinary, or everyday” in today’s world than that given by a simple internet search. Accordingly, a Google search of “provide definition” gives the following result:

pro·vide

verb

1. make available for use; supply.
- ...
2. make adequate preparation for (a possible event).

<<https://www.google.com/#q=provide>>. If a Nevada voter or minimum wage worker were curious about the definition of the word provide, this is more than likely the definition they would locate first. Thus, it would be clear that this definition, like all the others, in no way requires acceptance or use by the person to whom a service or item is being provided.

To further belabor this point, yet another source that defines “provide” is Roget’s II: The New Thesaurus. *Roget’s II: The New Thesaurus. 3rd ed. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1995.* Therein, “provide” is defined as “[t]o make (something) readily available.” *Id.*, at 647, 701. Indeed, every single definition of the word “provide” is the same. It means to make available for use. There is no ambiguity

and there is no requirement of actual acceptance or use. The definition of the word “provide” is “to make available for use.”

Plaintiff-Appellants attempt to dispute the common definitions of “provide” by making vague assertions about what they believe the Labor and Insurance Codes may imply via the interchanging use of the words “provide” and “offer.” ***Diaz Answer at 9:7–10:14; Hanks Opening Brief at 8:1-9:12; Kwayisi Opening Brief at 7:27-9-11.*** The flaw in their premise, however, is that every single example they give of the word “provide” being used could easily be replaced with “make available” and even “offer” and the statutes would maintain the identical meaning. ***Id., fn. 3.*** For example, Plaintiff-Appellants cite NRS 608.156(1)’s language that “[i]f an employer provides health benefits for his or her employees, the employer shall provide benefits for the treatment of abuse of alcohol and drugs.” *Id.* (Emphasis added). If “provide” is replaced by “offer” or “make available” in this sentence, NRS 608.156(1) still has the same meaning. On the other hand, if “provide” was replaced with a phrase consistent with Plaintiff-Appellant’s arguments such as “has employees accept or enrolled in”, it would lead to an absurd reading that any employees enrolled in health benefits must necessarily also be enrolled in the treatment for alcohol and drug abuse.

Further, Plaintiff-Appellants hypothesize that “the Legislature is assuming ‘provide’ means that real employees will be subject to employer-*provided*

insurance – they have, in other words, accepted the benefits – and that therefore those policies must carry, for example, coverage for drug and alcohol abuse treatment, treatment of autism spectrum disorders, or gynecological or obstetrical services.” ***Diaz Answer at 9:7 – 10:14; Hanks Opening Brief at 8:1-9:12; Kwayisi Opening Brief at 7:27-9-11*** (emphasis in original). Thus, Plaintiff-Appellants are asserting that the word “provide” in the Labor and Insurance Code context carries two meanings: first, it means employees must accept the described insurance; and second, the described insurance must make available coverage for certain treatments. This latter meaning of course completely contradicts their entire argument; however, carrying Plaintiff-Appellants’ argument to its logical end and as discussed above, if the Court were to accept Plaintiff-Appellants’ definition of the word “provide,” if an employee does not obtain treatment for drug and alcohol abuse, then that employee could assert that his or her “employer-provided” insurance does not provide coverage for drug and alcohol abuse. Whether or not any treatment coverage was actually provided by an insurance plan, under Plaintiff-Appellants’ argument, would depend on the individual employees personal needs and decisions. Such a construction is completely illogical.

Accordingly, as explained above, the plain language of the MWA is clear: if an employer makes insurance available to its employees, it may pay those employees the lower-tier minimum wage. It is that simple.

2. Plaintiff-Appellants’ unreasonably restricted definition of the word “provide” renders the language of the MWA nugatory.

Whenever possible, statutes are construed “such that no part of the statute is rendered nugatory or turned to mere surplusage” or to “produce absurd or unreasonable results.” *Albios v. Horizon Communities, Inc.*, 122 Nev. 409, 418, 132 P.3d 1022, 1028 (2006); *Harris*, 119 Nev. at 642, 81 P.3d at 534.

As noted above, directly after setting forth that employers must “provide” insurance, the MWA very next sentence goes on to explain exactly what providing health insurance means by stating:

Offering health benefits within the meaning of this section shall consist of making health insurance available to the employee for the employee and the employee’s dependents at a total cost to the employee for premiums of not more than 10 percent of the employee’s gross taxable income from the employer.

Thus, the MWA uses the terms “provide” and “offer” synonymously. Further, this sentence on “offering” also clarifies what sort of insurance should be provided by the employer by setting a 10 percent of gross taxable income threshold. Thus, the use of the word “offering” is relevant and it is directly addressing whether an employer qualifies to pay the lower-tier minimum wage. To assert otherwise would be nonsensical and require that this sentence stating “offering. . . shall consist of making health insurance available” be rendered as meaningless.

Here, Plaintiff-Appellants have requested that this Court adopt a definition

of the word “provide” that is so restrictive that whether an employer offers insurance to its employees would have no bearing whatsoever on whether that employer is permitted to pay the lower-tier minimum wage. This is in complete contrast to the actual language of the MWA. Plaintiff-Appellants contest the obvious use of the word “offer” in the MWA by asserting that contract law is somehow relevant to the analysis. ***Diaz Answer at 14:2-8; Hanks Opening Brief at 12:17-23; Kwayisi Opening Brief at 12:12-18.*** Specifically, they assert that because there is an offer and acceptance in the formation of a contract, the drafters of the MWA must have contemplated that “provide” means the acceptance of the offered insurance:

Offering those particular benefits is a predicate act; there must be an offer before one can accept those benefits, before those benefits can be provided. That is basic contract law: an offer must precede acceptance, and an acceptance is what constitutes provision.

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